IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In re Christopher Lee White,

Case No. S248125

SUPREME COURT FILED

AUG 2 9 2018

Petitioner,

On Habeas Corpus.

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Fourth District Court of Appeal, Division One, Case No. D073054 San Diego County Superior Court Case No. SCN376029 Deputy

PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

LAURA SCHAEFER
State Bar No. 138801
BOYCE & SCHAEFER
934 23rd Street
San Diego, CA 92102-1914
(619) 232-3320
Email: ls@boyce-schaefer.com

Attorney for petitioner CHRISTOPHER LEE WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In re Christopher Lee White,	÷	<

Case No. S248125

On Habeas Corpus.

Petitioner,

A.	Summary of argument
	B.	Text of article I, section 12 and article I, section 28, subdivision (f)(3)
	C.	Background to the enactment and amendments to section 12 and sect ion 28
		1. The history of the constitutional right to bail under section 12
e .		2. Proposition 8 and Proposition 420
		3. Proposition 9 and Marsy's Law
	D. :	The amendments to the bail provisions in section 28 reflect the voters' intent to require courts consider victim safety in setting or granting bail under section 12, not to repeal section 12's guarantee of bail or expand the strict limitations on pretrial detention 23

Table of contents (continued)

		1.	avoided24
		2.	Nothing in the text of section 28 indicates the voters intended to repeal section 12 or expand the limitations on pretrial detention 24
		3.	The ballot materials show that the voters did not intend to repeal section 1227
		4.	Nothing in the ballot materials supports a repeal of section 12 or expansion of its limitations on pretrial detention
		5.	Proposition 9 did not include a comprehensive scheme and procedures governing bail determinations
	E.	voters preser	on 28, subdivision (f)(3), does not reflect the s' intent because its text was erroneously need to voters as an existing and valid part of our citution
	F.	the co	on 28 can be reconciled with section 12 to require ourt to consider victim safety in setting bail and in mining whether section 12, subdivisions (b) and ply
I.	intere requir	st impli es inde	orrect determination of the fundamental liberty icated in an individual's pretrial detention pendent, de novo review of a trial court's eny bail
	A.	great"	ner the "facts are evident or the presumption is 'is reviewed for substantial evidence, sufficient tain a conviction on appeal

Table of contents (continued)

		В.	Whether there is a substantial likelihood the defendant will commit great bodily if released on bail is subject to independent review	
III.		The trial court erred in denying White his constitutional right to bail under Article I, section 12		
		A.	There was not substantial evidence that White aided and abetted the charged offenses	
		В.	The record does not establish a substantial likelihood of great bodily harm to others if White was released on bail	
		C.	Pretrial detention should be the exception, not the rule	
	IV.	Conc	clusion	
Certif	ficate o	f Word	d Count	

Proof of Service

Table of authorities

Cases Page
Board of Supervisors v. Lonergan (1980) 27 Cal.3d 855
Bowen v. Johnston (1939) 306 U.S. 19
Brown v. Memorial Nat. Home Foundation (1958) 162 Cal.App.2d 513 25
Cosby v. Jones (11th Cir. 1982) 682 F.2d 1373
Escobar v. Flores (2010) 183 Cal.App.4th 737 39, 40
Even Zohar Construction and Remodeling, Incorporated v. Bellaire Townhouses, LLC (2015) 61 Cal.4th 830
Ex parte Curtis (1891) 92 Cal. 188
Farmers Insurance Exchange v. Superior Court (2006) 137 Cal.App.4th 842
Haworth v. Superior Court (2010) 50 Cal.4th 372
Hays v. Wood (1979) 25 Cal.3d 772
In re Application of Weinberg (1918) 177 Cal. 781
<i>In re Bell</i> (1942) 19 Cal.2d 488
In re Hochberg (1970) 2 Cal.3d 870
In re Michael T. (1978) 84 Cal.App.3d 907
In re Nordin (1983) 143 Cal.App.3d 538
In re White (2018) 21 Cal.App.5th 18 passim
In re York (1995) 9 Cal.4th 1133
Juan H. v. Allen (9th Cir. 2005) 408 F.3d 1262
Kennedy Wholesale, Incorporated v. State Board of Equalization (1991) 53 Cal.3d 245
Lilly v. Virginia (1999) 527 U.S. 116
Maslow v. Maslow (1953) 117 Cal.App.2d 237
Ornelas v. United States (1996) 517 U.S. 690

Table of authorities (continued)

Pacific Palisades Bowl Mobile Estates, LLC v. City of Los Angeles
(2012) 55 Cal.4th 783
People v. Beeman (1984) 35 Cal.3d 547
People v. Cromer (2001) 24 Cal.4th 889
People v. Kraft (2000) 23 Cal.4th 978
People v. Ledesma (1997) 16 Cal.4th 90
People v. Louis (1986) 42 Cal.3d 969
People v. Nordin (1983) 143 Cal.App.3d 538
People v. Oliver (1989) 210 Cal.App.3d 138
People v. Standish (2006) 38 Cal.4th 858
People v. Tinder (1862) 19 Cal. 539
People v. Tran (1996) 47 Cal.App.4th 75944
People v. Valencia (2017) 3 Cal.5th 347
Professional Engineers in California Government v. Kempton (2007) 40 Cal.4th 1016
Stack v. Boyle (1951) 342 U.S. 1
Taxpayers to Limit Campaign Spending v. Fair Pol. Practices Com. (1990) 51 Cal.3d 74424
Thompson v. Department of Corrections (2001) 25 Cal.4th 11723
Thompson v. Keohane (1995) 516 U.S. 99
United States v. D'Amato (2d Cir. 1994) 39 F.3d 1249 45
United States v. Flores-Rivera (1st Cir. 1995) 56 F.3d 319
United States v. Harris (7th Cir. 1991) 942 F.2d 1125
United States v. Salerno (1987) 481 U.S. 739
United States v. Sanchez (5th Cir. 1992) 961 F.2d 1169
United States v. Santillana (5th Cir. 2010) 604 F.3d 192
United States v. Scott (9th Cir. 2006) 450 F.3d 863

Table of authorities (continued)

Van Atta v. Scott (1980) 27 Cal.3d 424
Statutes
Election Code § 9086
Election Code § 9087
Penal Code § 32
Penal Code § 220
Penal Code § 23611
Penal Code § 23711
Penal Code § 288.311
Penal Code §§ 664/209
Constitutional provisions
Cal. Const. art. I, §12 passim
Cal. Const. art I, § 28 passim
Cal. Const. art XIII A, § 3
Other authorities
Ballot Pamp., Primary Elec. (June 8, 1982) 20, 25, 30
Baradaran and McIntyre, <i>Predicting Violence</i> (2012) Texas L. Rev. 497
Hessick, Violence Between Lovers, Strangers and Friends, (2007) 85 Wash. U. L. Rev. 34347
Voter Information Guide, Gen Elec. (Nov. 4, 2008) passim
Internet websites
http://www.cbs8.com/story/37997415/yuma-officer-facing-rape-charges-in-san-diego
https://www.kiiitv.com/article/news/local/man-arrested-after-alleged-sexual-assault-of-a-babysitter/49038278542
https://www.kpbs.org/news/2018/feb/22/san-diego-sheriffs-deputy-accused-groping-faces-cr/

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In re Christopher Lee White,	Case No. S248125
Petitioner,	

On Habeas Corpus.

Petitioner's Opening Brief on the Merits

Petitioner Christopher White respectfully submits this Opening Brief on the Merits.

Issues on Review

The court ordered briefing and argument on the following issues:

- 1. Under what circumstances does the California Constitution permit bail to be denied in noncapital cases? Included is the question of what constitutional provision governs the denial of bail in noncapital cases article I, section 12, subdivisions (b) and (c), or article I, section 28, subdivision (f)(3), of the California Constitution or, in the alternative, whether these provisions may be reconciled.
- 2. What standard of review applies to the review of denial of bail?
- 3. Did the Court of Appeal err in affirming the trial court's denial of bail?

References to the constitutional provisions of article I, sections 12 and article I, section 28 shall be cited as "section 12" and "section 28."

Introduction

The California Constitution has guaranteed the right to bail² since its inception in 1849. Article I, section 12 requires release on bail for noncapital crimes with two very limited exceptions. Article I, section 28, the "Victim's Bill of Rights," does not mention section 12 or the right to bail it confers. Subdivision (f)(3) of section 28 does, however, state that a person "may" be released on bail in noncapital cases and that, "in setting, denying or reducing bail" the court shall consider factors such as victim and public safety. (Cal. Const. art. I, § 28, subd. (f)(3).)

Interpreting article I, section 28, subdivision (f)(3) as conferring discretion on the courts to deny bail would operate as an implied repeal of the centuries-old right to bail. There is a strong presumption against implied repeal, and it should and can be avoided by reconciling the two constitutional provisions. There is no evidence the electorate intended to repeal section 12 in enacting the amendments to section 28. Instead, the voters intended to have the courts consider victim safety in setting and granting bail as provided in section 12. This interpretation does not conflict with section 12 and it effectuates voter intent.

The trial court in this case denied bail to White under section 12, subdivision (b). This exception to bail is permitted only if there is substantial evidence of the accused's guilt and it is established by clear and convincing evidence that there is a substantial likelihood the accused's release would result in great bodily harm to others. (Cal. Const. art, I §12, subd. (b).) The Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's order, applying a deferential standard of review. (*In re White* (2018) 21 Cal.App.5th 18.)

² "The right to bail" is synonymous with the right to pretrial liberty. Thus, "bail" includes monetary bail and non-monetary conditions of release.

The guarantee of pretrial liberty is a significant constitutional right. Therefore, the denial of this fundamental liberty interest should be subject to an independent, de novo review by the appellate court. De novo review promotes consistency and uniformity in the rules governing the deprivation of the constitutional right of liberty.

The trial court erred in denying White's right to bail under section 12, subdivision (b). To deprive White of his liberty under this exception, there must be substantial evidence to support the charged offense of attempted kidnap to commit rape. The record does not support this finding. White was with his friend Owens standing by his truck after spending time at the beach. Owens suddenly ran up and grabbed a 15-year-old girl with no encouragement from White. White's shocked reaction to Owens' assault was consistent with that of an uninvolved person witnessing a friend's sudden and unexpected commission of a crime. No criminal intent can be inferred from White's hesitancy to intervene. After White apologized to the girl for his friend's behavior, he said "go in the house," but it was unclear to whom this was directed—the victim or Owens, though White's apology and Owens' inaction suggests it was directed to the girl. There is no substantial evidence of White's aiding Owens in this assault; the evidence is consistent with White's innocence.

The state also utterly failed to establish by clear and convincing evidence that there was a substantial likelihood White would cause great bodily harm to others if he was released on bail. White, a 27-year old man with no prior criminal record and no history of violence, did not inflict great bodily injury on anyone, nor is there any evidence that he would inflict great bodily injury if he was released on bail. The crime alone, aiding and abetting an unarmed felony assault, is not predictive of future violence. The facts of this case did not justify denial of bail under subdivision (b) of

section 12.

The state implicitly admitted this by offering White a plea bargain that resulted in his immediate release on summary probation. In the prosecutor's view, White only presented an imminent danger to the public while he asserted his constitutional right to a jury trial. The use of public safety as a pretext to punish the accused and coerce a guilty plea is not an imaginary danger; this case is a vivid reminder of why the right to bail is viewed as essential to due process.

Denying bail to an accused with no criminal record for aiding an unarmed felony assault would fill the jails with pretrial detainees and seriously dilute the invaluable constitutional guarantee of pretrial liberty afforded by section 12. The courts must protect the fundamental right to pretrial liberty by strictly limiting no-bail detention of the presumptively innocent.

Statement of the case

Christopher White was arrested on July 28, 2017, and charged with co-defendant Jeremy Owens with attempted kidnaping with intent to commit rape (Pen. Code³ §§ 664/209, subd. (b)), assault with intent to commit rape (§ 220, subd. (a)(1)), contact with a minor with intent to commit a sexual offense (§ 288.3, subd. (a)) and false imprisonment (§§ 236 and 237, subd. (a).) All the offenses arise out of an assault occurring on July 26, 2017.

White was arraigned, pled not guilty and was detained without bail at the arraignment.

All statutory references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise stated.

A preliminary hearing was held on October 4 and 5, 2017. Before the hearing, White filed letters from family and friends attesting to his character for non-violence in support of his bail request. At the end of the preliminary hearing, the court bound White over for trial on all counts and conducted a hearing on White's request for bail. (Exh. B, pp. 190, 192-195.)

The defense requested release on bail of \$50,000, identifying these factors supporting release: (i) White's support and lifelong ties to the community in Arizona, where White planned to live with his parents pending trial; (ii) White's gainful employment before his arrest as a cable installer; (iii) White's willingness to abide by any conditions of release set by the court, including stay away orders; (iv) White's lack of any prior criminal record; and (iv) White's significantly less culpable role in the offense conduct, carrying a maximum sentence of 9 years in state prison. White's parents were in attendance at the hearing and numerous family members wrote letters attesting to White's character for non-violence. (Exh. A; Exh. B, pp. 191-192.)

The prosecution requested detention for co-defendant Jeremy Owens, the perpetrator of the assault. As to White, the prosecutor stated that the court "is on sound legal ground to deny him bail," but submitted the issue to the court, in recognition that White "is not as culpable" as the co-defendant. (Exh. B., p. 195.)

The trial court found that "one defendant inflicted the acts of violence, the other person aided and abetted in that," and found "on the

The reporter's transcript of the October 4 and 5, 2017, preliminary hearing is attached to White's writ filed in the Court of Appeal as Exhibit B.

Attached to the writ as Exhibit A is White's request for bail with supporting letters.

basis of clear and convincing evidence that there is a substantial likelihood that the release of either of these gentlemen would result in great bodily harm to others" and that "the individual at threat would be [the complaining witness] herself" and that "other children, who are the most vulnerable members of our society, would be at risk based on the conduct in this case and what's alleged to have occurred in this case." (Exh. B, p. 196.) The court ordered White detained without bail. (Exh. B, p. 196.)

On November 3, 2017, White filed a writ of habeas corpus in the Court of Appeal challenging his detention. The Court of Appeal requested an informal response from the District Attorney and White filed a reply. On December 11, 2017, the Court of Appeal issued an order to show cause, set a briefing schedule, and indicated oral argument would be deemed waived unless either party requested it, in which case it could not be held until two months later on February 12, 2018. The District Attorney filed a response on December 22, and requested oral argument. White filed a traverse on January 4, 2018, and did not request oral argument.

The case was argued and submitted on February 12, 2018. On February 23, 2018, at a readiness conference, the state confirmed its offer to have White plead guilty to an accessory to attempted kidnap (§ 32) with three years summary probation and one year local custody. With credit for the seven months he had served, White would be entitled to immediate release. White rejected the offer. (See, Exhibit A attached to the Request for Judicial Notice filed with this petition.)

In the meantime, four months after filing the writ, the Court of Appeal issued its March 6, 2018, decision denying the writ. White filed a petition for rehearing on March 12, arguing that the state's continued detention of White constituted punishment and was not for the purpose of protecting the public, since the state was willing to release White

immediately if he pled guilty. White requested that the appellate court take judicial notice of the transcript of the readiness conference. The Court of Appeal denied the request for judicial notice and the rehearing petition.

White filed a petition for review, granted by this Court on May 23, 2018. This Court also granted White's request for judicial notice, but denied his request for immediate admission to bail.

Statement of facts

The evidence at the preliminary hearing established that, after White and Owens went to the beach, the two were standing by White's truck when Owens ran across the street and grabbed a 15-year-old girl, J.D., who was waxing her surfboard in front of her house. (Exh. B, pp. 28-30, 43.) She managed to break free of Owens. (Exh. B, p. 32.) She said "That's not cool. You guys can't do that." (Exh. B, p. 33.) White said "we're sorry" or "sorry" and J.D. backed away toward the gate, facing them. White remained standing by his truck. (Exh, p. 33, 54-56.) J.D. "had a feeling" that White was "almost kind of like the lookout guy." because he was "keeping his eye up and down the street." (Exh. B, p. 74.)

J.D. turned and opened the gate, and heard White say "go in the house." She assumed White directed this statement to Owens. (Exh. B, p. 34.) She locked the gate and went into her house. (Exh. B, pp. 34.) Owens and White left in the truck. (Exh. B, p. 34.)

White was arrested two days later. He repeatedly told the police that he did not know Owens was going to assault the girl and did not share Owens' intent. (See e.g., Exhs, C and D⁶, pp. 205, 210, 212, 223-224, 227, 229, 230, 234.) He told the police that he was in his truck near the beach

Exhibits C and D are the transcripts of the recorded police interviews of White introduced at the preliminary hearing.

drying off and relaxing after he went body surfing with Owens. (Exh. C, p. 210.) Owens commented that the girl across the street was pretty, but White did not think much of it because they "say that kind of stuff about girls all the time." (Exh. C, p. 212.)

Owens ran up to the girl across the street and White thought Owens was "going to talk to her." (Ex. C, pp. 205, 212.) He saw Owens grab J.D. and White said "yo, stop" and Owens stopped and looked "really confused." (Exh, C, p. 206.) White said it happened fast. (Exh C., p. 213.) White said "sorry," Owens ran back to the truck and White left in the truck with Owens. (Exh. C, p. 214.)

White asked Owens why he grabbed the girl and Owens said he did not know; "a primal instinct" came over him. (Exh. C., p. 214.) White told the police he thought Owens was "struggling with some mental health issues" and White had been looking for a therapist for him. (Exh. C, p. 206.)

At the station, two detectives interrogated White. The detectives suggested White was a "look out" and White appeared to agree that Owens said "hey watch out," but White did not agree that he knew Owens was going to grab J. D. (Exh. D, 225, 249.) The police also had White agree that he may have said "go get her" to Owens, but White said he meant go talk to her. (Exh. D., p. 242-244.) Despite the police officers efforts to get White to confess, White consistently denied that he knew that Owens intended to grab J. D. (Exh. D, pp. 223-224, 227, 229, 230, 234.)

Argument

I. Article I, section 12 governs the accused's right to be released on bail pending trial. Article I, section 28 can be reconciled with section 12 to require the court to consider victim safety in setting bail and in determining whether detention is permitted under section 12's exceptions to the grant of bail.

A. Summary of argument.

Section 12 establishes a comprehensive scheme governing the right to bail, including limited and specific exceptions to the denial of bail, a standard and allocation of proof, factors that must be considered in setting bail, and provisions regarding own recognizance release. (Cal. Const., art. I, § 12.) It unambiguously guarantees the right to bail, except in very specific and limited circumstances.

The 2008 amendments to section 28, on the other hand, expanded the right of crime victims to receive notification of court hearings and provide input during phases of the criminal justice process, restricted the early release of sentenced inmates, and changed the procedures for granting and revoking parole. (Cal. Const. art. I, § 28.) It contains two provisions concerning bail, subdivisions (b)(3) and (f)(3). Article I, section 28, subdivision (b)(3) grants crime victims the right to "have the safety of the victim and the victim's family considered in fixing the amount of bail and release conditions for the defendant." (Cal. Const. art. I, § 28.)

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