IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In Re CHRISTOPHER LEE WHITE

No. S248125

Petitioner,

SUPREME COURT
FILED

8.25(b) NOV 1 4 2018

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

On Habeas Corpus.

Deputy

Appeal from the Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case No. D073054 Superior Court of San Diego County, Case No. SCN376029 The Honorable Robert J. Kearney, Judge

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

SUMMER STEPHAN
District Attorney
MARK A. AMADOR
Deputy District Attorney
Chief, Appellate & Training Division
LILIA E. GARCIA, SBN 98982
Deputy District Attorney
PETER QUON, JR., SBN 077833
Deputy District Attorney
330 W. Broadway Suite 860
San Diego, CA 92101
Tel.: (619) 685-6639

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

(Ibid.)

It is significant that section 28(f)(3) gives the court discretion to release a defendant, charged with a non-capital crime, on pre-trial bail but requires the court to consider specific factors, including public and the victim's safety, before setting, reducing or denying that bail.

Amended section 28(f)(3) was in effect when the magistrate judge issued its October 5, 2017, order denying petitioner's motion for pre-trial bail. (See *White*, *supra*, 21 Cal.App.5th at pp. 23-24.)

C. California Constitution, Article I, Sections 12(b), 12(c), and 28(f)(3), Concern the Same Subject Matter, i.e., , the Setting, and Denial of Bail, and Can Be Harmonized With One Another Such That The Text of Each Section Remains Unchanged

Notably, the 1974 (Proposition 7), 1982 (Proposition 4), and 1994 (Proposition 189), amendments of state constitution Article I, section 12, and the 2008 (Proposition 9) amendment of state constitution Article I, section 28, have not been ruled to be invalid or unconstitutional. Thus, when the trial court considered petitioner's motion for pre-trial bail in this case, section 12(b), which excludes a defendant from being bail eligible who is charged with violent

felony crimes upon others, or with felony sexual assault offenses upon others, and who pose a substantial likelihood of causing great bodily harm to others if released, was applicable to petitioner's case because he was charged with those class of crimes. Section 28(f)(3), which gives a court discretion to set or deny bail, is also applicable to petitioner's case because that section requires the court's consideration of specific facts before setting or denying bail.

It is also notable that sections 12(b) and 28(f)(3), concern the same subject matter: the setting or denial of bail. In particular, the no-bail provision of Article I, section 12, applicable to persons charged with violent felony crimes or with felony sexual crimes, was added to the constitution by the passage of Proposition 4 (bail) in the June 8, 1982, primary election. The Legislative Analyst described the Proposition 4 to the electorate as constitutionally broadening circumstances which the courts may deny bail in felony cases:

Bail could be denied in felony cases involving acts of violence against another person when (a) the proof of guilt is evident or the presumption of guilt is great and (b) there is a substantial likelihood that the accused's release would result in great bodily harm to others; . . .

(Ballot Pamp., Primary Elec. (June 8, 1982) Analysis by the Legislative Analyst Prop. 4, p. 16.)

Consistent with the Legislative Analyst's report, the "Argument in Favor of Proposition 4" noted the proposition would, "enable judges to refuse to release on bail persons accused of violent felonies in clear cases where the court finds based upon clear and convincing evidence that there is a substantial likelihood the defendant's release would result in great bodily harm to others." (Ballot Pamp., Primary Elec. (June 8, 1982) argument in favor of Prop., at p. 18.)

The preceding Proposition 4 material is significant because it shows the voters were told the intent of the proposition was to authorize judges to deny bail based on factors more than simply assuring the defendant's appearance at scheduled court dates. The measure authorized courts to consider the seriousness of the defendant's current offense and previous criminal record, and the proponents of the measure made it clear they intended that victim's and public safety should be primary considerations in bail decisions. (*People v. Standish* (2006) 38 Cal.4th 858, 875, citing Ballot Pamp., Primary Elec. (June 8, 1982) argument in favor of Prop. 4, at p. 18.)³

Similarly, the Legislative Analysis' summary of the 1994 Proposition 189 informed the electorate that passage of the proposition would add felony sexual assault as a crime for which a court would have authority to deny a charged defendant pre-trial bail. The electorate was told the court already had the authority to deny pre-trial bail to persons accused of a capital crime, or accused of committing a violent felony upon another or threatening another person with serious bodily injury and posing a substantial likelihood of being able to cause great bodily harm or carry out the threat if released. (Supp. Ballot Pamp., Gen. Elec. (Nov. 8, 1994) Analysis by the Legislative Analyst Prop. 189, p. 7(G94).) The Legislative Analyst told the electorate that the constitutional amendment of Proposition

³In *People v. Standish*, *supra*, 38 Cal.4th 858, this court held because Proposition 4 garnered more votes than Proposition 8 which appeared on the same 1982 primary ballot, the bail provisions of Proposition 8 never became effective and the bail provisions of Proposition 4 prevailed. (*Id.*, at pp. 874-875.) The bail provisions of Proposition 8 proposed to repeal Article I, section 12, of the state constitution by substituting Article I, section 28, subdivision (e) that would have excepted persons who committed capital crimes from being released on bail by sufficient sureties. (See *Id.*, at pp. 877-878.)

189 would add the additional category of crimes, e.g. felony sexual assault crimes, for which a court could deny a defendant pre-trial bail:

Proposal. This constitutional amendment would permit the courts to deny bail for a wider range of sexual offenses. Specifically, this measure would allow the courts to deny bail if a person is accused of committing any felony "sexual assault" offense.

(Id., Analysis by the Legislative Analyst Prop. 189, p. 7 (G94).)

Because the electorate was clearly told the purpose of Propositions 4 and 189 was to authorize courts to deny pre-trial bail to defendants charged with specific felony crimes, the electorate's passage of those propositions necessarily reflects the electorate's intent to give courts that authority.

The passage of Proposition 9 in 2008, which added section 28(f)(3) to the constitution, does not conflict with the court's authority, under section 12(b), to deny pre-trial bail to a defendant charged with violent felony crimes against another person or charged with felony sexual assault. Rather, section 28(f)(3) represents the electorate's intent that a court's discretionary decision to deny bail to a non-capital defendant must be based on its consideration of more than whether the accused will appear at future hearings or trial.

As petitioner correctly observes, neither the Attorney General's summary, the Legislative Analyst's analysis of Proposition 9 nor the text of the proposed amendment of California Constitution Article I, section 28, states or suggests that proposition was intended to repeal Article I, section 12 (bail). (Petn. Merits Brief at p. 17; see Ballot Pamp., General Elec. (Nov. 4, 2008), Official Title and Summary prepared by the Attorney General, pp. 58-61, and Text of Proposed Laws, Proposition 9, pp. 128-132.) The absence of text or suggestion by Proposition 9 that the purpose of the proposition was to repeal Article I, section 12, is significant.

This court has long recognized that the language used in a constitutional provision should be given its ordinary meaning, and "[i]f the language is clear and unambiguous there is no need for construction, nor is it necessary to resort to indicia of the intent of the Legislature (in the case of a statute) or of the voters (in the case of a provision adopted by the voters)." (People v. Valencia (2017) 3 Cal.5th 347, 357, citing Lungren v. Deukmejian (1988) 45 Cal.3d 727, 735.) To that end, this court generally must "accord[] significance, if possible, to every word, phrase and sentence in pursuance of the legislative purpose," and have warned that "[a] construction making some words surplusage is to be avoided." (People v. Valencia, supra, 3 Cal.5th at p. 357, citing Dyna-Med, Inc. v. Fair Employment & Housing Com. (1987) 43 Cal.3d 1379, 1387.) At issue here is whether sections 12(b) and 28(f)(3) can be reconciled without changing the intent of those sections; the answer is yes.

A court is to construe two statutes dealing with the same subject in a way that harmonizes them to avoid conflict and avoid rendering any part of either statute surplusage, if feasible. (Superior Dispatch, Inc. v. Insurance Corp. of New York (2010) 181 Cal.App.4th 175, 189; see (Bright v. 99¢ Only Stores (2010) 189 Cal.App.4th 1472, 1477–1478 ["It is a 'basic rule of statutory construction [that]: insofar as possible, we must harmonize code sections relating to the same subject matter and avoid interpretations that render related provisions nugatory.' [Citation.]"] .) Likewise, it is a cardinal rule of construction that words or phrases are not to be viewed in isolation; instead, each is to be read in the context of the other provisions of the Constitution bearing on the same subject. (Fields v. Eu (1976) 18 Cal.3d 322, 328, citing Wallace v. Payne (1925) 197 Cal. 539, 544.) The goal is to harmonize all related provisions if it is reasonably possible to do so without distorting their apparent meaning, and in so doing to give effect to the scheme as a whole. (Fields v. Eu, supra, 18 Cal.3d at p. 328, citing in

part Serrano v. Priest (1971) 5 Cal.3d 584, 596.) Strained interpretation or construction leading to unreasonable or impractical results, is to be avoided. (Fields v. Eu, supra, 18 Cal.3d at p. 328, citing in part Pollack v. Hamm (1970) 3 Cal.3d 264, 273.)

Here, sections 12(b) and 28(f)(3) address the same subject matter: a trial court's authority to set, reduce, or deny pre-trial bail. Any differences between the two sections are reconcilable. Section 12(b) is a mandatory directive which directs, "[a] person shall be released on bail..., except for... . capital crimes. . . felony offenses involving acts of violence . . ., or felony sexual assault offenses on another person, . . . and the court finds based upon clear and convincing evidence that there is a substantial likelihood the person's release would result in great bodily harm to others. . .". (Cal. Const., Art. I, § 12(b) [emphasis added].) Section 28(f)(3) contains a discretionary provision which provides, "[a] person may be released on bail. . ., except for capital crimes. . ." and a mandatory requirement that "the judge or magistrate shall take into consideration" specific circumstances, e.g., public and victim safety, seriousness of the charged offense, defendant's criminal record and probability of defendant appearing at trial or hearing in the case, "[i]n setting, reducing or denying bail. . ." (Cal. Const., Art. I, \S 28(f)(3) [emphasis added].)

Preliminarily, the California Constitution expressly provides that its provisions "are mandatory and prohibitory, unless by express words they are declared to be otherwise." (Cal. Const., Art. I, § 26 (constitution mandatory).) Section 12 contains the term "shall" in terms of a person being released on bail. But, in the same sentence, it also delineates exceptions to that mandatory language by the term "except for". In the context of section 12(b), respondent submits the combined effect of those terms is a mandatory action to specifically exclude, from the class of persons otherwise entitled to being released from bail, a person who is

charged with a violent felony offense or a sexual felony assault, and who is shown, by clear and convincing evidence, to pose a substantial likelihood of committing great bodily harm to another if released.

Respondent recognizes that, in the context of a statute, whether a particular statute is intended to impose a mandatory duty, rather than a mere obligation to perform a discretionary function, is a question of statutory interpretation for the courts. (*Creason v. Department of Health Services* (1998) 18 Cal.4th 623, 631.) In the context of statutory interpretation, the term "shall" generally connotes mandatory action and "may" a permissive action unless the context requires otherwise. (Govt. Code, § 14 (shall; may); *Roseville Community Hosp. v. State of California* (1977) 74 Cal.App.3d 583, 587–588, fn. 4.) A court examines the language, function and apparent purpose of each cited enactment to determine if any or each creates a mandatory duty. (See *Haggis v. City of Los Angeles* (2000) 22 Cal.4th 490, 500.)

Here, the amendments and Legislative Analysis of what has become Article I, section 12, reveal the electorate who enacted those amendment intended the section be a mandatory act. As presented above, the 1982 Legislative Analysis of Proposition 4 told the electorate the proposition would enable judges to refuse to release on bail persons accused of violent felonies in clear cases where the court finds based upon clear and convincing evidence that there is a substantial likelihood the defendant's release would result in great bodily harm to others. (Ballot Pamp., Primary Elec. (June 8, 1982) argument in favor of Prop., at p. 18.) The 1994 Legislative Analysis of Proposition 189, that added the commission of sexual felony assault to the list of crimes for which bail could be denied under section 12, wrote the proposition "would permit the courts to deny bail for a wider range of sexual offenses," and "[s]pecifically, this measure would allow the courts to deny bail if a person is accused of committing

any felony 'sexual assault' offense." (Supp. Ballot Pamp., Gen. Elec. (Nov. 8, 1994) Analysis by the Legislative Analyst, Prop. 189, at p. 7 (G94).) The preceding analysis by Legislative Analysts for propositions that amended section 12 to its current language make it clear the electorate understood that passage of the propositions amending section 12, required courts to deny pre-trial bail to a defendant who is charged with a violent felony crime or felony sexual assault and who is found, by clear and convincing evidence, would commit great bodily harm to others if released.

Next, sections 12(b) and 28(f)(3), can be reconciled. Under Section 12(b), a defendant who is charged with a violent felony or sexual felony offense and, by clear and convincing evidence, is shown to pose a substantial likelihood to commit great bodily harm to others, may be denied bail. Under section 28(f)(3) a court is to consider public and victim safety, seriousness of the charged non-capital offense, defendant's criminal record and probability of defendant appearing at trial or hearing before setting, reducing, or denying bail. These provisions of sections 12(b) and 28(f)(3) do not conflict with one another: The clear and convincing evidence standard applicable to a trial court's assessment of whether a defendant poses a substantial likelihood to commit great bodily harm to another does not preclude a court from considering public and victim safety, seriousness of the charged non-capital offense, the defendant's criminal record, and the probability of a defendant appearing at trial or scheduled hearing, as factors to making a clear and convincing factual finding.

Section 12(b), which excludes a defendant who is charged with a violent felony or sexual felony assault case from receiving bail when the court finds, by clear and convincing evidence the substantial likelihood the defendant's release would result in great bodily harm to others, does not conflict with section 28(f)(3). (Cal. Const., Art. I, § 12(b).) Section 28(f)(3) does not mandate that a defendant, who is charged with a violent felony

crime or with felony sexual assault and who poses a substantial likelihood of causing great bodily harm, is to be granted pre-trial bail. (Cal. Const., Art. I, § 28(f)(3).) The fact that section 28(f)(3) gives a court discretionary authority to grant pre-trial bail to a non-capital defendant does not conflict with section 12(b), which mandatorily precludes pre-trial bail being granted to such a defendant who, by clear and convincing evidence, is shown to pose a substantial likelihood of causing great bodily harm if released.

Lastly, section 12(b), requires the denial of a qualified non-capital defendant from receiving bail be based on the lower court's clear and convincing finding that the defendant's release presents a substantial likelihood that the defendant's release would result in great bodily harm to others. (Cal. Const., Art. I, § 12(b).) Section 28(f)(3) requires a court's setting, reduction, or denial of pre-trial bail be based on that court's consideration of public and victim safety, seriousness of the charged non-capital offense, defendant's criminal record and probability of defendant appearing at trial or hearing; those considerations do not conflict with a court making a clear and convincing evidentiary finding based on those factors. (Cal. Const., Art. I, § 28(f)(3).)

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